#### IN THE SUPREME COURT OF FLORIDA

WALTER A. McNEIL, Secretary, FLORIDA DEPARTMENT OF CORRECTIONS,

Petitioner,

vs.

FSC CASE NO. SC08-2369 1DCA CASE NO. 1D08-452

EDISON CANTY,

Respondent.

PETITIONER'S MERITS BRIEF

On Review from the District Court of Appeal, First District, State of Florida

\_\_\_\_\_

CAROLYN J. MOSLEY FLORIDA BAR NO. 593280 ATTORNEY SUPERVISOR OFFICE OF GENERAL COUNSEL

DEPARTMENT OF CORRECTIONS 2601 BLAIR STONE ROAD TALLAHASSEE, FL 32399-2500 (950) 488-2326

ATTORNEY FOR PETITIONER

#

### STATEMENT OF THE CASE AND FACTS<sup>1</sup>

Respondent Canty<sup>2</sup> committed ten crimes within a six-month period between July 1991 and February 1992 in Dade County, Florida for which he was adjudicated guilty and sentenced to prison on the same date in three different cases. He was sentenced for three third-degree felonies (one 5-year term and two enhanced 10-year terms) for committing two counts of possession of cocaine and one count of carrying a concealed firearm and seven second-degree felonies (seven 15-year terms) for committing attempted first degree murder, aggravated assault with a deadly weapon, shooting a deadly missile at a vehicle, two counts of possession of a firearm during commission of a crime, and two counts of felon in possession of firearm. Three of the sentences were habitual felony offender (HFO) sentences (two 10-year terms and one 15-year term); the remaining sentences were

scenarios throughout the brief to explain what is being argued.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>1</sup>The petitioner will be referred to as the Florida Department of Corrections, "Department," or "DOC"; the respondent, Edison Canty, will be referred to by his last name; inmate, or offender; and the Florida Parole Commission will be referred to as the "Commission" or "FPC." The record on appeal will be referred to by the symbol "R," followed by the appropriate page numbers. For *illustrative purposes* the Department has included an affidavit in the appendix to this brief which provides a more comprehensive explanation of Offender Canty's sentence structure. This information will eliminate the need to present multiple hypothetical

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>2</sup> He also is known as Leonard Alexander Brooks and Thomas Brown. (R. 68, 88; A. 3).

guidelines sentences. All sentences ran concurrently. He was sentenced on May 4, 1992 and received by the Department on May 27, 1992. (R. 47; A. 3)

Upon receiving custody of Canty, the Department calculated an ending date for each sentence and a tentative release date on the sentence that ended last. It applied the jail credit to the sentences, which varied from 82 days to 138 days. It also applied basic and incentive gain time to the guidelines sentences and incentive gain time to the habitual offender sentences. (A. 4)<sup>3</sup>

Canty was released from the Department's custody on April 27, 2002 to conditional release supervision under the jurisdiction of the Florida Parole Commission. (R. 48; A. 6) At that time, his ten sentences were comprised of the following:

<sup>-</sup>

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>3</sup> When Canty offended, the gain time awards included lump sum awards of basic gain time and up to 20 days per month incentive gain time. The Stop Turning Out Prisoners Act, which applies to sentences for offenses committed on or after October 1, 1995, had not yet been enacted. <u>Comer v. Moore</u>, 817 So.2d 784 (Fla. 2002) (upholding STOP Act against single subject rule challenge).

92-50255, 116 jail + 696 prison + 1013 gain time = 1825 days (5 years) II

91-26924, 138 jail + 2491 prison + 1021 gain time = 3650 days (10 years) I, II

91-26924, 138 jail + 3645 prison + 1692 gain time = 5475 days (15 years) IV

92-2795 82 jail + 2546 prison + 2847 gain time = 5475 days (15 years) III, V, VI

(R.48; A. 5-6)

The Florida Parole Commission determined that Canty was eligible for supervision on the above five high-lighted sentences: Counts I and II in Case No. 91-26924, habitual felony offender (HFO) 10-year prison term for commission of carrying a concealed firearm and possession of cocaine; Count IV in Case No. 91-26924, HFO 15-year term for commission of felon in possession of a firearm,; Count III in Case No. 92-2795, 15-year term for commission of aggravated assault with a deadly weapon; and Count I in Case No. 92-5025, 15-year term for attempted first-degree murder. (R. 48; A. 6) The length of the supervision was 2837 days (April 27, 2002 to February 1, 2010). (R. 48; A. 6)

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>4</sup> It is unclear why the Commission chose 2837 days instead of 2847 days, possibly a miscalculation.

Twice in the year 2005 Respondent Canty was charged with and arrested for violating the conditions of his supervision. The Commission restored him to supervision the first time, but the second time his supervision was revoked, effective August 24, 2005 with credit for time served from April 5, 2005 to July 7, 2005. (R. 49, 92; A. 6-7) The supervision was revoked on three sentences—Count IV of 91-26924 (HFO 15-year term for commission of felon in possession of a firearm); Count III of Case No. 92-2795 (15-year term for commission of aggravated assault with a deadly weapon); and Count I of Case No. 92-5025 (15-year term for attempted first-degree murder). (R. 98; A. 7)

Upon revocation of supervision, the Department declared a forfeiture of the accrued gain time on the three sentences pursuant to section 944.28(1), Florida Statutes (1989). (R. 49; A. 7) The sentence imposed on Count III in Case No. 92-2795 determined Canty's new release date because the greatest amount of gain time had accrued on that sentence. (R. 49; A. 7) The new tentative release date was computed as follows: August 24, 2005 [date of revocation of supervision] plus 2847 days [forfeited gain time] minus 94 days [FPC credit] minus 418 days [gain time awarded since revocation date] = January 15, 2012. (A. 50)<sup>5</sup>

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>5</sup> This date was correct as of September 14, 2007 (date of Department's Affidavit). (R. 50)

LEON COUNTY CASE NO. 2007-CA-002312. Respondent Canty filed a petition for writ of mandamus in the Leon County Circuit Court challenging the Department's calculation of his release date upon revocation of conditional release supervision. (R. 1-30) The Department filed a response with documents (commitment papers, supervision papers, and affidavit setting out the sentence structure). (R. 42-113) Canty then filed a reply. (R. 114-128) The essence of Canty's argument was that the amount of time served was the same on all the concurrent sentences, which was 3783 days; that the amount of time remaining to be served was 1692 days, which was the least amount of gain time awarded; and that the 15-year prison terms imposed by the sentencing court would be exceeded were he required to serve any additional time. The Department disagreed, arguing, either directly or implicitly, that each sentence was unique with different amounts of time served and gain time; that the sentence with the most gain time determined the new release date; that the new release date was based on the forfeiture of 2847 days of accrued gain time which was reflected in the Department's affidavit; and that the 15-year term was not exceeded when viewed individually. The mandamus court denied the petition, reasoning as follows:

The court finds no error concerning the forfeiture of the Plaintiff's 2847 days of previously accrued gain time upon the revocation of the Plaintiff's conditional release supervision. \*\*\*\*

After the revocation of his conditional release, the Plaintiff returned to prison to serve the 2847 days of gain [time] forfeited pursuant to Section 944.28, Florida Statutes in Miami Dade County case number 92-2795. It is clear that the state "may use an unexpired Conditional Release-eligible sentence to determine the length of the supervision and then toll the running of that supervision period until the inmate has been released from prison." Evans v. Singletary, 737 So.2d 505, 507 (Fla. 1999). The court would note that Bolden v. Florida Department of Corrections, 865 So.2d 1 (Fla. 1<sup>st</sup> DCA 2003) does not afford the Plaintiff any relief. Bolden is distinguishable because it deals with sentences arising out of the same criminal episode. Therefore, it does not apply to this case. Crosby v. McNeal, 865 So.2d 617 (Fla. 5th DCA 2004); Lewis v. Crosby, 878 So.2d 444 (Fla. 1st DCA 2004). The court finds that the Plaintiff's claim that he is being forced to serve a longer prison term than was imposed by the sentencing court in Miami Dade case number 92-2795 is to be without merit. (R. 129-130)

### FIRST DISTRICT COURT OF APPEAL CASE NO. 1D08-452.

Respondent Canty filed a petition for writ of certiorari to challenge the circuit court's order denying his mandamus petition. The Department responded, and Canty replied. The First District granted the petition, reasoning in relevant part as follows:

Canty's contention is that the new release date effectively extends his sentence from 15 years to over 17 years, a period beyond the statutory limits and the authority of the Department. The Department argues that the sentence is in conformity with *Evans v. Singletary*, 757 So.2d 505 (Fla. 1999), which the Department says held that imprisonment was tolled on conditional release eligible sentences. Therein lies the problem. *Evans* held the conditional release *supervision* was tolled until release on the ineligible concurrent sentences. *Evans* did not speak to the length of incarceration after return to prison. *Evans* reasoned that one who is not released cannot be supervised as a conditional releasee, and therefore, the period of supervision is properly based on the gain

time of the eligible sentence. The same reasoning should apply in this case. If the prisoner is still imprisoned on a concurrent sentence, it is a bit of sophistry to say the person is not imprisoned on the release eligible sentence.

If our reasoning somehow reduces or eliminates conditional release in some cases, so be it. The court set the length of sentence, and the Department of Corrections does not have the authority to increase it. The trial court departed from the essential requirements of law. Its decision is, therefore, quashed and the case is remanded to the trial court for further proceedings. (A. 1-2)

The Department then filed a motion styled, "Motion to Substitute Counsel, for Certification, and to stay Issuance of Mandate." (R. Vol. 2, 4) It requested that the following question be certified to this Court as one of great public importance: "Does a concurrent sentence continue to run until the inmate is released from the Department's custody, thereby eliminating any gain time awards not affecting the inmate's actual release date?" (R. Vol. 2, 4) On December 9, 2008, the First District denied the Department's motion to stay issuance of the mandate but granted its motion to substitute counsel and for certification. It rephrased the question as follows: "Does a conditional release eligible sentence continue to run while an inmate remains incarcerated on a concurrent sentence for which conditional release is not available?" (R. Vol. 2, 11)<sup>6</sup>

-

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>6</sup> Offender Canty remained incarcerated after his two 10-year eligible sentences ended to serve additional sentences (both eligible and ineligible 15-year terms), and the sentence that ended last was one of the eligible sentences.

One week later, the Department filed its notice to invoke this Court's discretionary jurisdiction based on the certified question. It also filed in this Court a motion styled, "Petitioner's Motion for Stay Pending Review and to Expedite Disposition of Case." On March 2, 2009, the Department's motion was granted, and the proceedings were stayed in the First DCA and Leon County Circuit Court pending disposition of the petition for review. In addition, an expedited briefing schedule was established, oral argument was set for May 4, 2009, and counsel was appointed for Respondent Canty.

### SUMMARY OF THE ARGUMENT

This case is about the structure of concurrent sentences. Pursuant to well established law, each offense has a sentence; each sentence is unique; and each sentence is *served*, with its own ending date. The structure of a *served* sentence is as follows: jail time + prison time + gain time = prison term, *unless* the sentence is a mandatory term that must be served without gain time awards.

When two or more sentences are served concurrently, they merge into a single term for the purpose of sharing prison time but remain independent as to the length of the term, jail time credit, and gain time awards. Due to the independent factors, the concurrent sentences may end at different times without necessarily affecting the actual release date. If such sentences are subject to conditional release supervision, the supervision is tolled until the offender is released from prison. The length of supervision will equal the gain time awarded on the sentence, and if the supervision is revoked, the offender will return to prison to serve the remainder of his sentence, which will be the forfeited gain time. Many factors influence this process—the law (sentencing, gain time, tolling provisions); the exercise of judicial discretion in sentencing; and the offender's behavior in prison and on supervision.

In the present case, Offender Canty served ten concurrent sentences that ended on various dates due to the differences in length of the prison term, jail

credit, and gain time awards: March 1, 1994 (one 5-year term); February 28, 1999 (two 10-year terms); March 31, 1999 (three 15-year terms); April 24, 1999 (three 15-year terms); and April 27, 2002, actual release date (one 15-year term). The structure of *all* ten sentences when *served* was as follows: jail time + prison time + gain time = prison term. Canty was subject to conditional release supervision on five of the sentences, four of which ended *before* the release date (the fifth ending on the release date). The supervision was tolled on the four sentences until the last sentence ended. Upon his release from custody, Canty's term of supervision was determined by the amount of the gain time awards. His supervision subsequently was revoked on three of the sentences. Upon his return to prison, the Department forfeited the gain time on those three sentences. Canty is currently serving that time.

The First District held in this case that Offender Canty was serving time on the eligible sentences as long as he remained incarcerated. The Court reasoned, "If the prisoner is still imprisoned on a concurrent sentence, it is a bit of sophistry to say the person is not imprisoned on the release eligible sentence." The Court further concluded that the sentences had to keep running to avoid increasing the length of the sentence set by the judge, even if it meant that the supervision would be eliminated. Finally, the Court certified the following question to this Court:

Does a conditional release eligible sentence continue to run while an inmate

remains incarcerated on a concurrent sentence for which conditional release is not available?

The First District's decision is contrary to well-established law that requires sentences to be independent. Under the First District's construction, all sentences are running until the actual release date. A literal application of this requirement would mean that the sentences are being served day for day without any gain time awards, but that is not what was meant. Offender Canty had one 5-year term, two 10-year terms, and seven 15-year terms. Without gain time awards, he would have had to serve a full 15 years in prison, less jail credit. What it appears the First District was really saying is that gain time cannot be awarded that does not affect the actual release date. Thus, in Canty's case, he was in prison 3645 days, and 3645 days of prison time had to be applied to each concurrent sentence. That amount of prison time would have caused three of Canty's sentences to be served day for day without any gain time to be served on supervision. The Court recognized that this was a possibility when it stated, "If our reasoning somehow reduces or eliminates conditional release in some cases, so be it." As to the seven 15-year terms, that amount of prison time would have reduced but not eliminated the gain time awards: 1748 days (reduced from 2847 days); 1714 days (reduced from 2837 days); and 1692 days (no reduction, controlling sentence for actual

release). The variations in the jail credit (82, 116, and 128 days) accounted for the different amounts of adjusted gain time.

The First District's decision has effectively eliminated the tolling of conditional release supervision in contravention of well-established law from this Court. In Evans, infra, this Court held that supervision on an eligible sentence was properly tolled until the offender was released from prison on an ineligible sentence. The issue of tolling arises *only* after a sentence has been *served* through a combination of time served and gain time and has ended *before* the actual release date. If concurrent sentences continue to run until the offender has been released from custody, as held by the First District, no sentence can end early through gain time awards which is needed to trigger the tolling of supervision.

The First District distinguished Evans on the ground that Evans addressed only the tolling of supervision, not the tolling of imprisonment and not the length of incarceration upon revocation of supervision. That reasoning turns tolling of conditional release supervision on its head. The tolling of supervision never commences until a sentence has ended, at which point its structure is as follows: jail time + prison time + gain time = prison term. There is *no* other time to be served in prison. If the sentence is deemed to keep running, then for each day thereafter that the offender remains incarcerarated a day of prison time must be substituted for a day of gain time, with a corresponding reduction in the term of

supervision and term of incarceration upon revocation of supervision. To the extent the sentence is still running, the supervision cannot commence, and no reason for tolling exists. Prison credit wipes out the tolling period and converts gain time into prison time; it is the same as if there never was any tolling of supervision, only the serving of prison time.

The First District also assumed that the sentencing judge in Offender Canty's case intended for all the sentences to keep running and end at the same time. It commented, "The court set the length of sentence, and the Department of Corrections does not have the authority to increase it." That assumption is based on the judge being inadequately informed about the law. Judges, however, are presumed to know the law, including the gain time law, Eldridge, infra, and generally have broad discretion in fashioning sentences. In order for concurrent sentences to end simultaneously, the length of the term, amount of jail credit, and gain time awards need to be identical. It is up to the judge to vary the lengths of the concurrent sentences to accommodate variations in jail and gain time credits. No such efforts were taken by Offender Canty's sentencing judge, not even to offset the different amounts of jail credit. To the extent the judge is unable to make an adjustment (for example, one offense carries a mandatory day-for-day prison term), that is the product of a policy choice by the Legislature.

### **CERTIFIED QUESTION**

DOES A CONDITIONAL RELEASE ELIGIBLE SENTENCE CONTINUE TO RUN WHILE AN INMATE REMAINS INCARCERATED ON A CONCURERNT SENTENCE FOR WHICH CONDITIONAL RELEASE IS NOT AVAILABLE?

In one hearing, Offender Canty received ten concurrent sentences in three cases for offenses committed on three different dates. Due to variations in the length of the prison terms, jail credit, and gain time awards, the sentences ended on different dates: March 1994; February, March, and April 1999; and April 27, 2002 The Florida Parole Commission determined that five of the (release date). sentences were subject to conditional release supervision. The gain time awarded on the five sentences was as follows: 1021 days (two ten year terms); **1692 days** (HFO 15-year term that controlled the release date); 2837 days (15-year guidelines sentence); and 2847 days (15-year guidelines sentence). Offender Canty was released to supervision, the term of which was based on his gain time awards, and returned to prison as a supervision violator on the above high-lighted three sentences. The Department forfeited the gain time on those sentences, which Canty is currently serving.

The First District held in this case that Offender Canty when he was initially incarcerated was serving time on the eligible sentences as long as he remained incarcerated, and that the sentences had to keep running to avoid increasing the

length of the sentences set by the judge, even if it meant that the supervision would be eliminated. The Court certified the following question as one of great public importance: Does a conditional release eligible sentence continue to run while an inmate remains incarcerated on a concurrent sentence for which conditional release is not available?

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