IN THE SUPREME COURT OF FLORIDA

WALTER A. MCNEIL, SECRETARY, FLORIDA DEPARTMENT OF CORRECTIONS

Petitioner,

CASE NO. SC08-2369

VS.

EDISON CANTY,

Respondent.	

RESPONDENT'S BRIEF ON THE MERITS

NICHOLAS A. SHANNIN PAGE, EICHENBLATT, BERNBAUM, & BENNETT, P.A.

214 East Lucerne Circle Orlando, Florida 32891 Telephone: (407) 386-1900 Florida Bar No. 9570

WILLIAM R. PONALL KIRKCONNELL, LINDSEY, SNURE AND YATES, P.A. 1150 Louisiana Avenue, Suite 1 Winter Park, Florida 32789 Telephone: (407)644-7600 Florida Bar No. 421634

Attorneys for Respondent

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

SUMMARY OF ARGUMENT

This Court should dismiss this cause for lack of jurisdiction because the district court did not actually answer the certified question, and the question does not accurately reflect the issue in this case.

On the merits, the Department simply lacked the authority to unilaterally increase Mr. Canty's sentence beyond the term of imprisonment originally imposed by the sentencing judge. Mr. Canty cannot be required to serve a sentence of imprisonment which actually exceeds the sentence originally imposed by the trial judge. Pursuant to the Florida and United States Constitutions, sentencing is solely the province of the courts, not the Department of Corrections.

Finally, whether or not the applicable period of conditional release supervision is tolled to the end of the conditional release-eligible sentence with the latest release date, Mr. Canty was entitled to credit for all the time he served in prison on all of his concurrent sentences. The First District below determined that it was sophistry for the Department to argue that Mr. Canty was not imprisoned on one sentence while imprisoned on a sentence which was to run concurrently with it. That determination was accurate, and this Court

should affirm accordingly to prevent the Department from unilaterally acting to elongate the judicially-imposed sentence for Mr. Canty in this case.

ARGUMENT

I. THIS COURT SHOULD DECLINE THE REQUEST IN THIS CASE FOR LACK OF JURISDICTION BECAUSE THE DISTRICT COURT DID NOT ACTUALLY RULE ON THE QUESTION IT HAS CERTIFIED TO THE COURT.

The question certified to this Court by the district court as a question of great public importance does not accurately reflect the issue that exists in Mr. Canty's case, and was not actually ruled upon by the district court. The district court granted the Department's motion for certification, but rephrased the question that was requested by the Department. (R20, 21). The question certified by the district court was as follows:

Does a conditional release eligible sentence continue to run while an inmate remains incarcerated <u>on a concurrent sentence for which conditional release is not available?</u>

(R21) (emphasis added).

The facts of the instant case reflect that Mr. Canty's actual release date from prison was determined by his sentence on Count IV of Case No. 91-26924 (Habitual Felony Offender 15-year term for commission of felon in possession of a firearm), because that was the 15-year sentence for which he had earned the least amount of gain time. Section 947.1405(2), Florida Statutes (1991),

explicitly provides that a defendant sentenced as a habitual felony offender is subject to conditional release.

Therefore, the question certified by the district court does not accurately reflect the issue in this case, because the sentence upon which Mr. Canty remained incarcerated was eligible for conditional release. Since the Court granted jurisdiction based on the certification of a question of great public importance that was not actually addressed by the district court, and because the question does not address the issue involved in this case, the Court should withdraw its prior grant of jurisdiction and dismiss the appeal. *See, State v. Vasquez*, 718 So. 2d 755, 756 (Fla. 1998); *Gee v. Seidman and Seidman*, 653 So. 2d 384, 385 (Fla. 1995). *See, also, Crosby v. Bolden*, 862 So. 2d 373, 373 (Fla. 2004) (withdrawing jurisdiction under similar circumstances when closer review yielded information that jurisdiction was no longer warranted).

II. THE DEPARTMENT OF CORRECTIONS LACKED THE AUTHORITY TO INCREASE MR. CANTY'S SENTENCE TO A PERIOD LONGER THAN WAS ACTUALLY IMPOSED BY THE TRIAL JUDGE.

If the Court addresses the merits of this case, the Court should change the certified question to ask whether the Department, upon revoking a defendant's conditional release, can impose a term of imprisonment which results in the defendant serving a period of incarceration on a count of conviction which is

longer than the sentence originally imposed by the trial judge. It is that question, and not the question certified by the district court, that actually addresses the main issue before this Court.

The district court's opinion, below, accurately described the key reason why the Department's calculation cannot stand. The Department lacks the authority to require an inmate to serve a prison sentence which actually exceeds the sentenced imposed by the sentencing judge. *Canty v. McNeil*, 995 So. 2d 998, 999 (Fla. 1st DCA 2008); (R19). In reaching its decision to quash the lower court's order, the district court correctly reasoned as follows:

If our reasoning somehow reduces or eliminates conditional release in some cases, so be it. The court set the length of the sentence, and the Department of Corrections does not have the authority to increase it.

995 So. 2d at 999; (R19).

Under Article I, Section 9 of the Florida Constitution, once a defendant begins serving his sentence, the State cannot alter it unilaterally to a defendant's detriment. *Pearson v. Moore*, 767 So. 2d 1235, 1238 (Fla. 1st DCA 2000). Article I, Section 18 of the Florida Constitution provides the following: "No administrative agency shall impose a sentence of imprisonment nor shall it impose any other penalty except as provided by law." It is well established that

the Department is an administrative agency subject to that prohibition. *See e.g. Pearson*, 767 So. 2d at 1238.

Sentencing is the obligation of the courts, not the Department. *Thomas v. State*, 612 So. 2d 684 (Fla. 5th DCA 1993). This Court has explicitly held that the Department violates the separation of powers doctrine established in Article II, Section 3 of the Florida Constitution when it refuses to carry out the sentence that was imposed by the trial judge. *Moore v. Pearson*, 789 So. 2d 316, 319 (Fla. 2001). While Respondent sympathizes with the need for the Department to deal with complicated analyses of gain time, conditional release, and other such factors, it nonetheless may not violate this separation of powers and usurp the role of the judicial branch in setting the length of the sentence imposed.

Clearly, it would also constitute a violation of fundamental due process, pursuant to both Article I, Section 9 of the Florida Constitution, and the Fifth and Fourteenth Amendments to the United States Constitution, for the Department to unilaterally change a defendant's sentence. The construction requested by the Department would transform the sentence imposed into one longer that the sentence determined by the judiciary; unconstitutionally depriving the Respondent of his due process rights while breaching the separation of powers discussed above.

Moreover, the plain language of Section 947.141(3), Florida Statutes (1991), explicitly indicates that, upon revocation of a defendant's conditional release, the Department can only return the defendant to prison to serve the sentence that was originally imposed by the trial judge. Section 947.141(3) provides that the Department "shall revoke conditional release and thereby return the releasee to prison to serve the sentence imposed upon him . . ."

When construing a statute, it is axiomatic that a court must strive to effectuate legislative intent. In order to determine that intent, this Court has held that "legislative intent is the 'polestar' of statutory interpretation, such intent is to be derived primarily from the plain language of the statute." *Cason v. Florida Dept. of Mgmt. Services*, 944 So. 2d 306, 312 (Fla. 2006). This Court has further explained that "[w]hen the statute is clear and unambiguous, courts will not look behind the statute's plan language for legislative intent or resort to rules of statutory construction to ascertain intent." *Kasischke v. State*, 991 So. 2d 803, 807 (Fla. 2008).

In the instant case, the Department revoked Mr. Canty's conditional release on Count IV of Case No. 91-26924 (Habitual Felony Offender 15-year term for commission of felony in possession of a firearm); Count III of Case No. 92-2795 (also a 15-year term); and Count I of Case No. 92-5025 (also a 15-

year term). Upon revocation, the Department, based on the gain time forfeited on Count III of Case No. 92-2795, imposed a new prison term of 2,847 days (7.8 years). Prior to serving this additional 2,847 days in prison, Mr. Canty had already served 3,783 days (138 jail + 3645 prison) (10.36 yrs) on Count IV of Case No. 91-26924. By requiring him to serve an additional 7.8 years in prison on that count, the Department is extending his sentence to over 17 years, far in excess of the 15 year sentence originally imposed by the sentencing judge.

Mr. Canty's supervision was revoked as of August 24, 2005, and he was re-incarcerated. Therefore, as of this date, he has served almost an additional 4 years of incarceration. With the addition of newly-awarded gain time, it appears that Mr. Canty should have already been released from prison, and was, in fact, so released until a stay was granted with regard to this appellate matter. It is for this reason that Mr. Canty concurs with the decision of this Court to expedite briefing and argument of this matter and further prays for an expedited decision following completion of the briefing and argument phases of this appeal.

The Department had no legal authority to independently fashion a sentence which actually exceeds the sentence originally imposed by the sentencing judge. In fact, both the aforementioned provisions of the Florida

and Unites States Constitutions, and the language of Fla. Stat. § 947.141(3) clearly prohibit the Department from increasing a defendant's prison sentence beyond the term of imprisonment originally imposed by the sentencing judge.

To the extent that § 947.141 or any other applicable statute is ambiguous as to how a defendant's prison sentence should be calculated upon revocation of conditional release, the rule of lenity requires that the ambiguity be resolved in favor of the defendant. Section 775.021(1), Florida Statutes (1991), provides that "[t]he provisions of this code and the offenses defined by other statutes shall be strictly construed most favorably to the accused." This Court has previously employed the rule of lenity to interpret the conditional release statutes in a manner favorable to an inmate. *Parole Commission v. Cooper*, 701 So. 2d 543, 544-45 (Fla. 1997). No clearer instance for application of the rule of lenity can be envisioned than one where an inmate is being compelled under an interpretation labeled by the First District Court of Appeal as "sophistry" to serve a 15 year sentence with over 17 years in prison.

Therefore, upon revocation of Mr. Canty's conditional release, the Department lacked the authority to increase Mr. Canty's prison sentence beyond the term originally imposed by the sentencing judge. Accordingly, this

Court should answer the rephrased question in the negative and approve the decision of the district court.

III. UPON REVOCATION OF HIS CONDITIONAL RELEASE, MR. CANTY WAS ENTITLED TO CREDIT FOR TIME SERVED IN PRISON ON ALL OF HIS CONCURRENT SENTENCES.

In the alternative, if this Court declines to rephrase the question certified by the district court, it should still conclude that Mr. Canty is entitled to credit for all the time served in prison on all of his concurrent sentences. As previously indicated, a contrary conclusion would allow the Department to exercise unfettered discretion and independently fashion a sentence of imprisonment which exceeds the sentence actually imposed by the sentencing judge.

The Department correctly notes that, in *Evans v. Singletary*, 737 So. 2d 505 (Fla. 1999), this Court held that the Department may use an unexpired conditional release-eligible sentence to determine the length of the supervision and then toll the running of that supervision until the defendant is actually released from prison on a concurrent sentence that was not eligible for conditional release. In *Evans*, the defendant was serving a 7-year sentence which was eligible for conditional release and a concurrent 15-year sentence which was not. The issue before the Court was simply whether the conditional

release supervision period could be tolled and served after the defendant was released on the 15-year sentence, or whether the conditional release supervision was actually served in prison.

Unlike the instant case, in *Evans*, the defendant's conditional release was not revoked. In the instant case, the district court correctly recognized that this Court's decision in *Evans* did not address the length of incarceration after a defendant's conditional release supervision is revoked and he is returned to prison. *Canty*, 995 So. 2d at 999; (R19). Additionally, unlike the situation in *Evans*, the sentence in the instant case which actually determined Mr. Canty's release date (15-year Habitual Felony Offender sentence in Case No. 92-2795) was eligible for conditional release.

Both of these important distinctions were recognized by the district court in *Bolden v. Department of Corrections*, 865 So. 2d 1 (Fla. 1st DCA 2003). In *Bolden*, the defendant was sentenced to four concurrent 10-year sentences, three of which were subject to conditional release. The offense with the latest release date, based on the permissible gain time that could be awarded to the defendant, was eligible for conditional release. After the defendant was released on conditional supervision and that supervision was revoked, a dispute arose

concerning the length of incarceration the Department could require the defendant to serve. *Bolden*, 865 So. 2d at 2-3.

On appeal, the district court held that, under the circumstances present in *Bolden*, tolling of the defendant's conditional release supervision on one release-eligible-count while the defendant continued to serve a concurrent sentence on two other release-eligible-counts was not appropriate. In support of its conclusion, the district court reasoned that the possibility of a windfall to the defendant that was present in *Evans* was not present in *Bolden*, because, unlike the sentence at issue in *Evans*, the sentence with the latest release date in *Bolden* was also eligible for conditional release. Additionally, the district court noted that there is absolutely no statutory support for tolling in the conditional release statutes. 865 So. 2d at 3-5.

Like the defendant in *Bolden*, but unlike the defendant in *Evans*, the sentence imposed on Mr. Canty with the latest release date was eligible for conditional release. Therefore, the facts of the instant case are consistent with those in *Bolden* and readily distinguishable from those found in *Evans*, and thus, tolling of the supervision period on the concurrent sentences with earlier release dates was not appropriate.

Even if this Court concludes, pursuant to *Evans*, that tolling is appropriate when the offense with the latest release date is also eligible for conditional release, a defendant, upon revocation of his conditional release, should still be given credit for all the time he served in prison on all the counts of conviction. As previously asserted, *Evans* did not address the recalculation of prison time upon revocation of a defendant's conditional release supervision. *See Bolden*, 865 So. 2d at 4.

Two Justices of this Court have previously concluded that the fact that tolling may be appropriate does not mean that a defendant is not entitled to credit for time served in prison on all his concurrent sentences upon the revocation of conditional release supervision. The Department sought discretionary review of the district court's decision in *Bolden*, and this Court initially accepted jurisdiction. This Court subsequently exercised its discretion to discharge jurisdiction and dismissed the case. *Crosby v. Bolden*, 867 So. 2d 373 (Fla. 2004).

However, Justice Wells, in an opinion in which Justice Pariente concurred, dissented from the Court's decision to discharge jurisdiction. Justice Wells, the author of this Court's opinion in *Evans*, concluded that the tolling of a defendant's conditional release supervision period until he is released from

prison is proper. Justice Wells, however, concluded that a defendant should receive credit on all his conditional-release eligible sentences for time served in prison on a conditional-release-eligible sentence with a later release date than his other concurrent sentences. Justice Wells concluded that it "is implicit in the nature of 'concurrent' sentences that time previously served on a concurrent sentence should be credited toward all other concurrent sentences." *Bolden*, 867 So. 2d at 376-79.

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